





health in focus: 2SLGBTQ sexual health

An evidence review and practical guide designed for healthcare providers and researchers

PURPOSE

This Health in Focus educational resource was created to highlight the sexual health needs of 2SLGBTQ people.

This document will help you to identify barriers to accessing these sexual health services for 2SLGBTQ people and to better understand what can be done to create affirming 2SLGBTQ environments.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 3 Summary
- 4 2SLGBTQ sexual health
 - 4 Two Spirit identities + health
 - 5 Sexual health + lesbian and bisexual women
 - 6 Sexual health + gay and bisexual men
 - 9 Sexual health + trans and gender nonconforming people
 - 11 Sexual health + 2SLGBTQ youth
- **12** Resiliency factors
 - **12** Supporting 2SLGBTQ competent sexual and reproductive healthcare services
 - **13** Current legislative and regulatory context regarding 2SLGBTQ populations
- **14** Recommended resources
- **14** References

summary

To provide inclusive, affirming services, and welcoming sexual health care to Two Spirit, lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans, and queer (2SLGBTQ) populations, health care and social service providers should appreciate the various gender identities, expressions, orientations, and other identities within the diverse umbrella of 2SLGBTQ. While there are some similarities in the experiences of Two Spirit, lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans, and queer people, each is a unique population that is diverse. 2SLGBTQ individuals live in all parts of the province, have different racial, ethnic, religious, age, and socio-economic identities, and may live with disabilities. 2SLGBTQ people share some sexual health concerns with the general population, however, they have some specific conditions, risks, and sexual care needs. Some of the health issues may apply to people across the 2SLGBTQ spectrum, while others may be specific to particular groups or identities.

When providing sexual health services to 2SLGBTQ people, a service provider's care will be enhanced by learning about their unique needs.

Different sub-populations under the 2SLGBTQ umbrella have different experiences and face different sexual health risks.

Assessment of sexual health risks for 2SLGBTQ people should be dependent on their body parts and sexual activities, not on a person's sexual orientation or gender identity.

Cisgender lesbian, bisexual women and women who have sex with women are at increased risk of breast, ovarian, and endometrial cancers. There is a tendency to believe that sex between women is less risky because of the assumption that it does not involve penetration. **Cisgender gay, bisexual men and men who have sex with men (MSM)** are at greater risk for certain sexually transmitted infections (STIs). Barriers to effective care include health issues related to HIV infection or its treatment, as well as stigma and discrimination. MSM are also at increased risk of gonorrhea, syphilis, hepatitis A and B, non-specific urethritis, and shigellosis.

Trans and gender non-conforming people also face additional obstacles to accessing quality sexual health care, including experiences of outright discrimination and refusal to treat trans patients, as well as a lack of relevant clinical and trans competence among providers. Trans and gender nonconforming individuals face various sexual health risks, including higher risks for HIV and other STIs, and unintended pregnancies.

2SLGBTQ youth are more likely to engage in high-risk sexual behaviors leading to an increased incidence of STIs. Trans and gender nonconforming youth are also at higher risk for assault and sexual abuse.

Intimate partner violence is as prevalent in 2SLBGTQ relationships as in heterosexual and cisgender relationships and has been associated with a number of high-risk sexual behaviors.

2SLGBTQ sexual health

The past decade has seen significant progress in 2SLGBTQ rights in Canada, but members of the 2SLGBTQ community continue to experience worse health outcomes than their heterosexual and cisgender counterparts. Adverse outcomes have been linked to factors such as high rates of stress due to systematic harassment, social stigma and discrimination, and a lack of 2SLGBTQ-specific health information and competent health care.

Studies indicate that general practitioners are concerned that patients, in general, will find discussion of sexual issues intrusive or offensive, and take too much time. These barriers are compounded when seeing 2SLGBTQ people due to a provider's lack of competence in 2SLGBTQ health.¹

Sexual health is important for every population. However, it may be even more so for 2SLGBTQ communities as it is often the focus of research and policy, as well as the source of stigma and discrimination. Much of the research and policy on 2SLGBTQ populations focuses on specific infections/ diseases, such as STIs and HIV/AIDS. The overwhelming emphasis in HIV/AIDS research and health promotion on queer communities has the potential to cause harm if other dimensions of health are ignored. These populations may be at higher risk of diseases and conditions not directly related to sexual practices.²

Different sub-populations under the 2SLGBTQ umbrella have different experiences and face different risks, so they are presented separately within this document.

Two Spirit identities + health

Two Spirit identities are diverse among Indigenous communities, with many First Nations peoples, Métis, and Inuit using the term to encompass their sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, spiritual and/or cultural roles. Although for some individuals there may be overlaps with broader LGBTQ categories, others may view being Two Spirit as a distinct, separate identity.

The underrepresentation of distinct Two Spirit data in health research means much of our current information relies on small-sample studies, along with extrapolation from known disparities facing both Indigenous populations and 2SLGBTQ people. These limitations must be acknowledged, as they restrict care competency and contribute to "systemic invisibility."61 The emotional needs of Two Spirit people are one of the few areas of specific study, with existing literature indicating high rates of depression and anxiety.

The historic consequences of cultural genocide and ongoing colonialism – compounded by racism and social exclusion – significantly disadvantage Indigenous health. HIV rates for Indigenous peoples are twice as high as the average population.62 STI transmission, particularly chlamydia prevalence, is notably more prevalent when compared to the non-Indigenous population.63

When appropriate, service providers should take the same considerations working with Two Spirit clients that they practice with Indigenous and LGBTQ clients. For instance, assessment of sexual health risks should be dependent on the client's body parts and sexual activities, rather than Two Spirit identity.

SEXUAL HEALTH + LESBIAN AND BISEXUAL WOMEN

This section refers to women who identify as lesbian and bisexual; however, it also includes women who have sex with women (WSW) and don't necessarily use either of those sexual identity labels.

Studies conducted in the United States suggest an increased risk of breast, ovarian, and endometrial cancers in lesbians and bisexual women, due to factors such as fewer full-term pregnancies, fewer mammograms, and obesity. The highest prevalence of obesity was specifically found in Black lesbian women and those of low-economic status.³

Lesbian and bisexual women are more likely to smoke than heterosexual women, and smoking tobacco is associated with higher risk of cervical abnormality in the presence of HPV, and a higher risk of bacterial vaginosis.⁴ Smoking cessation can therefore have significant sexual health benefits for many lesbian and bisexual women.⁵

There is a tendency to believe that sex between women is less risky because of the assumption that it does not involve penetration. This assumption is exacerbated by the lack of health promotion materials specifically designed for lesbian and bisexual women, which may contribute to; limited use of safer sex behaviours; a lower likelihood of accessing regular pap testing; and less willingness to be vaccinated for HPV.⁶ Sexual activities between women include oral sex, vaginal and anal penetration using fingers and sex toys, penetrative sex, mutual masturbation, and vaginal fisting.^{7.8}

Lesbians have a similar prevalence of STIs to that of heterosexual women, with bisexual women possibly having a higher rate;^{9, 10} however, the rates of specific STIs differ. Bacterial vaginosis (BV) and candida are most common; genital warts (caused by HPV), genital herpes (caused by herpes simplex virus-HSV) and trichomoniasis are infrequent; while chlamydia, pelvic inflammatory disease (PID), gonorrhea, and blood borne viruses (BBV) are rare.⁷ There is evidence that BV, HPV, and HSV are sexually transmissible between women.^{5, 12, 13} Further evidence of HPV transmission between women lies in the finding that exclusively lesbian women have similar rates of cervical dysplasia to heterosexual women, indicating the need for routine cervical screening.¹⁴

Risk factors for STI transmission in WSW include having had male sexual partners. early age of first sexual activity, and a higher number of sexual partners.¹⁵ Risk-taking behaviours may be increased by mental health concerns and past experiences of abuse, both of which are of higher prevalence among lesbian and bisexual women. Bisexual women are more likely to combine sex with illicit drug use, which tends to reduce use of safer sex practices and increase STI rates. According to one study, female injection-drug users who had sex with women were at higher risk of HIV/AIDS. Similarly, other researchers have reported that vigorous use of sex toys allows for the exchange of body fluids containing blood that could heighten the risk of HIV transmission between women.¹⁶

Although risk of transmission of BBVs during sex between women is relatively low, lesbian and bisexual women have other risk factors for BBV transmission, such as higher likelihood of drug injection than heterosexual women. Bisexually active women are more likely to have sex with men who themselves have BBV risk factors, such as drug injecting or engaging in sex with other men.⁵

Latex barriers can be used to reduce transmission of STIs between women. These include dams placed over the genital area during oral sex, which can reduce the transmission of herpes and the transfer of anal organisms. Condoms on sex toys and latex gloves during vaginal/anal/digital sex or fisting may reduce the risk of transmission of organisms present in cervical and vaginal secretions, assuming they are changed or removed between sites.¹⁷

Use of latex protection is rare among women, who are more likely to utilise other methods of safer sex such as; using different fingers or a different hand between sites; washing hands and sex toys soon after contact with secretions; and avoiding oral sex during episodes of herpes simplex.⁵

The unwanted pregnancy rate among lesbian and bisexual women is higher than that of their heterosexual peers. Pregnancy rates among this group may even be higher where there is limited acceptance and access to sensitive care, such as in rural areas. Increasing numbers of lesbians are seeking to conceive children. There is limited evidence that lesbians may have a higher prevalence of polycystic ovaries and polycystic ovarian syndrome, which can complicate conception planning. It is therefore important that information, advice, and planning for contraception, conception, and referral to appropriate services is available.⁵

The experience of abuse and violence for lesbian and bisexual women over their lives is two to three times higher than it is for heterosexual women. The rate of intimate partner violence within same-sex couples appears to be the same as that among heterosexual couples; however, there is the added burden of stigma, difficulty accessing 2SLGBTQ-positive crisis services, and risk of not being taken seriously. These experiences can create vulnerability and mental health problems that can compromise sexual health and wellbeing.¹⁸

SEXUAL HEALTH + GAY AND BISEXUAL MEN

This section refers to men who identify as gay and bisexual; however, it also includes men who have sex with men (MSM) who don't necessarily use any one of these sexual identity labels.

Research indicates that MSM have some common sexual health risks and concerns. While they may not all apply to each individual, they are important concerns for men and their care providers to be aware of.¹⁹

MSM are at greater risk for certain STIs, such as syphilis, human papillomavirus (HPV), hepatitis, shigellosis, non-specific urethritis (NSU), and HIV. The bacteria that causes meningitis can also be passed to others through close contact. Men with compromised immune systems such as those with HIV, are especially at risk.¹⁹

The number and rate of reported HIV cases in Canada has remained relatively stable over the last decade, meaning that the country has not seen a decrease in new HIV infections in recent years.²⁰ Despite advances like preexposure prophylaxis (PrEP) with antiretroviral therapy (ART), and the availability of self-testing, significant challenges such as barriers to effective care, health issues across the life span related to HIV infection or its treatment, stigma and discrimination remain.²¹ Some populations are more adversely affected and don't have the same access to HIV education, supports and services. The Canada Communicable Disease Report for HIV Surveillance showed that Indigenous and African, Black and Caribbean people made up less than five per cent of the population, but represented more than 20 per cent of newly reported HIV cases.²² A survey of gay and bisexual men found that one in three men had never had an HIV test, and one in four had never been tested for any STI.¹⁶

The World Health Organization recommends that all men who have sex with men consider taking pre-exposure prophylaxis (PrEP) to prevent HIV. When combined with consistent condom use, PrEP can minimize HIV transmission.²³

While studies show some promising increase in awareness of PrEP and post-exposure prophylaxis (PEP), rates of use continue to be much lower than rates of awareness. Men who report being aware of PrEP ranged from 13 per cent to 64 per cent, but reported use of PrEP among MSM was between 0.4 per cent to two per cent. About 50 per cent of HIV-negative gay and bisexual men were aware of PEP, but fewer than five per cent reported having ever used it.²⁴

Men were more likely to be aware of PrEP if they had high numbers of sexual partners, and if they had a care provider who was aware of their sexual behaviours. Men were more likely to be interested in using PrEP if they were involved in high-risk activities, such as greater numbers of sexual partners and participating in unprotected anal sex with casual partners.¹⁹

Between 47 per cent and 64 per cent of MSM were aware of PEP. Awareness of PEP was associated with being white and over 25 years old, having an income over \$100,000, and making annual visits to a health provider. The study also found that men who reported unprotected anal sex or sex under the influence of a drug were more likely to have heard of PEP.¹⁹

Men were more likely to have used PEP when they were in an HIV serodiscordant relationship (where one partner has HIV and the other is not), had high numbers of sex partners, and engaged in anal intercourse with casual partners.¹⁹

Barriers to using PrEP and PEP for MSM include: the cost and accessibility of the medication, short and long-term side effects, and the adverse effects of irregular PrEP use. Another major concern was that PrEP use could lead to reduced condom use while on PrEP. Studies report between a 36 per cent to 60per cent likelihood of reduced condom use by men on PrEP.²⁴

Rates of gonorrhea are on the rise among men who have sex with men, and new, more drug resistant strains are becoming more common.²⁵

Since the early 2000s, a syphilis epidemic has emerged in urban centres in Canada, disproportionately affecting gay men and MSM, a proportion of whom are HIV-positive. Individuals infected with syphilis are at an increased risk of acquiring HIV. In people living with HIV, syphilis can progress more quickly, be more difficult to treat, and increase the risk of onward HIV transmission.²⁶ If not treated promptly, syphilis can harm the heart and nervous system.²⁷

Certain risk-reduction strategies such as serosorting (the act of choosing a sexual partner with the same HIV-positive status) and strategic positioning (where the receptive partner is HIV-positive or has an unknown HIV status and his partner in the insertive role in anal sex is HIV-negative), which are often accompanied by condomless sex, may be driving syphilis infection among HIV-positive gay men. This could account for some of the cases of syphilis reinfection after successful treatment.²⁸

Canadian and international evidence demonstrates the need for enhanced testing for syphilis among at-risk MSM. Based on the literature, this includes increased testing frequency (up to every three months) for HIV-negative MSM at high risk; this can be facilitated, for example, by adding syphilis testing to routine blood work, given the significant rates of syphilis co-infection.²⁹

OTHER STIS DISPROPORTIONATELY AFFECTING MSM

Both the hepatitis A virus and the hepatitis B virus disproportionately affect MSM. Both can be is transmitted through needle sharing and anal, oral, and vaginal sex. Hepatitis is a serious disease that can be fatal. Fortunately, both hepatitis A and hepatitis B can be prevented by safe and effective vaccines. Unfortunately, many men at risk remain unvaccinated.²⁷

Non-specific urethritis (NSU) is inflammation of the urethra caused by bacteria. It is also called non-gonococcal urethritis (NGU) when the condition is not caused by gonorrhoea. It is passed on in the same way as gonorrhoea and often has similar symptoms. It can also be caused by having lots of sex or masturbating a lot, which can make the urethra inflamed.

Shigellosis is a very contagious common diarrheal disease caused by a group of bacteria. Exposure to even a tiny amount of fecal matter with shigella in it can cause infection. MSM are more likely to acquire shigellosis than the general adult population. Shigellosis outbreaks among MSM have been reported in the United States, Australia, Canada, Japan, and Europe.^{5, 31} Typically passed from stools or soiled fingers of one person to the mouth of another person, sexual activity such as oral-anal sex, or sucking or licking of the anus (anilingus or "rimming"), may be especially risky.³¹ MSM are more likely to get infected with *shigella* that is resistant to antibiotics commonly used to treat shigellosis.³¹ HIV-infected persons can have more severe and prolonged shigellosis, including having the infection spread into the blood, which can be life-threatening.³²

Men in same-sex relationships experience abuse rates similar to those faced by women in heterosexual pairings, and by as much as three times higher than those reported by men involved with women. MSM may be hesitant to seek help because they fear that revealing their sexual orientation to others will put them in greater danger, or because most resources are geared for women survivors of violence.

Limited attention has been paid to abuse of men in intimate partner relationships and even less so on abuse of men by male partners. Studies suggest that men in abusive relationships were more likely to report depression or other mental health problems, and to engage in unhealthy behaviors such as substance abuse, combining drugs with sex, or unprotected sex. These findings parallel studies of heterosexual samples, which show that intimate partner abuse is a major factor in a range of health problems.³³



SEXUAL HEALTH + TRANS AND GENDER NON-CONFORMING PEOPLE

Trans, and gender non-conforming individuals face various sexual health risks in their lifetime, including higher risks for HIV and other STIs, unintended pregnancies,³⁴ and marginalization and abuse within the community from family, partners and colleagues, which can encourage reluctance in seeking necessary health care. These risks increase for racialized and ethnic minorities, particularly those who identify as Indigenous, Black, or Latino.³⁵

Beyond sexual health issues experienced by 2SLGBTQ communities, these populations also face additional obstacles to accessing quality sexual health care, including experiences of outright discrimination and refusal to treat trans and gender non-conforming patients, as well as a lack of relevant clinical and cultural competence among providers. The intimate nature of sexual health care - such as screening and treatment for STIs and breast, cervical, and prostate cancers, as well as contraception provision — makes these concerns especially acute. Sexual health education rarely addresses trans people's bodies and identities. For example, transmasculine people who have sex with men report a lack of adequate information about their sexual health at rates as high as 93.8 per cent.35

Trans people delay or avoid preventive health care, such as pelvic exams or STI screening, out of fear of discrimination or disrespect. Half of transmasculine people do not receive annual pelvic exams. Reasons include discomfort with the physical exam due to gender issues, lack of a medical provider they were comfortable with, and thinking they did not need pelvic exams. Trans teens, including those at risk for unintended pregnancy, were reluctant to go to a family planning clinic.³⁴

A person's risk of exposure to STIs and BBVs depends on the body parts and fluids involved in sexual activity with another person, not a person's identity. Trans people may have sexual partners of any gender or biological sex.³⁴ An individual's partners or sexual history cannot be assumed from their gender identity or the gender they were assigned at birth. Standard preventive health screenings are generally recommended for the body parts a patient has, regardless of that patient's gender identity, including breast, cervical, and prostate cancer screenings.³⁷

Trans individuals may engage in higher rates of unprotected vaginal, anal, and oral intercourse.³⁸ Transmasculine people who have sex with men report high rates of unprotected vaginal and anal intercourse. Some transmasculine people report being more concerned about pregnancy than HIV and other STIs.³⁹ HIV prevalence in trans and gender non-conforming individuals is at four times that of the general population. Low levels of consistent condom use, combined with barriers to social and health-related services, contribute to higher HIV rates among trans individuals.⁴⁰

HIV infection rates are particularly high for transfeminine people, driven by trouble accessing critical sexual and reproductive health care services due to stigma and discrimination.⁴¹

Increased engagement in HIV-related risk behaviors also stems from the psychological impacts of discrimination and stigma, where trans individuals, particularly racialized transfeminine people, are more likely to be living with depression, anxiety, and poor selfesteem.³¹

Sexual health education provided in public schools and sexual health information found at many clinics and hospitals seldom address the bodies and individualities of trans and gender nonconforming individuals,³⁵ leaving a percentage of the population without access to critical knowledge regarding their sexual and reproductive health needs. When one seeks this information, healthcare providers are unfortunately not always equipped with the knowledge to address these particular health essentials.⁴²

Many trans individuals indicate that when it came to addressing their personal health concerns, they had to educate their healthcare providers on the appropriate provisions of care they required.³⁴

Being able to enjoy sex is an important aspect of general wellbeing. Trans and gender nonconforming people may face considerable challenges to their sexual experiences, such as their sexual behavior (i.e., type and frequency of sexual activities) and sexual feelings (e.g., their sexual pleasure).⁴³ The experience of being trans or gender nonconforming is closely related to sexual identity and body image. For trans individuals who choose to undergo hormonal therapy and/or surgery, alterations to the endocrine system and sex characteristics are likely to influence their sexual experiences, which in turn may affect their quality of life.⁴⁴

There are several indications that dissatisfaction with one's appearance or misalignment between sex assigned at birth and gender, can make it more difficult to enjoy or to be satisfied with sexual experiences.⁴⁵ While trans and gender nonconforming people generally reported improved sexual satisfaction after transitionrelated interventions, findings also indicate that satisfaction with one's genitals, following transition related interventions, plays an important role in sexual satisfaction.⁴⁶ Body incongruence, which is often accompanied by body dissatisfaction, and is not confined only to the genitals, hinders sex and enjoyment of sex.³⁷ Body satisfaction is positively related to indicators of sexual behaviors and feelings, underlining the importance that body satisfaction plays in the sexual experiences of trans people.47

It is estimated that 14 per cent of trans people in Ontario had ever done sex work and three

per cent are current sex workers. Transspecific reasons for doing sex work may include employment discrimination, housing insecurity, the need to fund gender-affirming care, and benefits; these include access to community, affirmation of gender identity, and more accommodating work-life balance, which may alleviate adverse effects of transphobia. Transfeminine people are more likely to engage in high-risk sex work, often having little power to negotiate safer sex with their partners. Much existing research on trans sex workers focuses on HIV risk, but has also identified other important health concerns and social determinants of health including high levels of violence, limited access to justice, poor mental health, high suicide risks, higher rates of disability, and stigma in healthcare settings.48

Sex workers had greater barriers to health care than other trans and gender nonconforming people, including not having a primary care provider, unmet health care need(s), and emergency room avoidance. In contrast, sex workers were more likely to have been tested for HIV or other STIs, and more likely to have used PrEP for HIV prevention.⁴⁸

Trans and gender non-conforming individuals experience even higher rates of intimate partner violence (IPV) than the general population. More than half (54 per cent) reported experiencing some form of intimate partner violence.49 Trans and gender nonconforming individuals who experienced IPV were also likely to have experienced other forms of violence such as sexual assault, transphobic family violence, transphobic school violence, or transphobic violence more broadly in society. Clinicians should treat IPV among trans populations as a potential warning sign for, and should trigger screenings for, experiences with other violence types outside of intimate relationships.

Along with other forms of IPV experienced by survivors, trans and gender non-conforming survivors of IPV also experience gender

abuse, which is abuse that is targeted toward their trans identity like misgendering, dead naming (using a former name), refusing to validate the survivor's identity, or directing physical/sexual violence toward a survivor's identity. Identity abuse can become internalized and make it challenging for survivors to recognize their experiences as abusive or seek help. Add this to experiencing transphobia from family, people at work, or society in general, trans people often gauge whether reaching out for support is going to be helpful or harmful.⁵⁰

Intimate partner violence has been associated with several high-risk sexual behaviors, including inconsistent condom use, multiple sexual partners, earlier sexual debut, consuming substances while engaging in sexual behavior, and a higher risk for sexually transmitted infections.⁵¹

SEXUAL HEALTH + 2SLGBTQ YOUTH

2SLGBTQ youth are more likely to engage in high-risk sexual behaviors leading to an increased incidence of STIs. Multiple factors accounted for unsafe sexual behaviors in 2SLGBTQ youth including earlier age of their first sexual encounter, increased number of sexual partners (known and anonymous), lack of education on safe sex practices, ineffective use of condoms, and testing and perception of STIs acquisition risk.⁵²

Trans and gender nonconforming youth are also at higher risk for assault and sexual abuse,^s further increasing the possibilities of pregnancy and STI infection. Abuse suffered by trans individuals can start as young as the grade school years. Trans youth are a particularly vulnerable group, often facing issues such as "shame, fear, and internalized transphobia," and limitations or restrictions on individual expression.⁵⁴

resiliency factors

Factors that support good mental health for 2SLGBTQ people, such as access to spaces and relationships that affirm their sexual orientation and gender identity, lower rates of suicide and risk-taking behaviours.¹⁶ Peer norms about safer sex and behaviorally specific communication with regular romantic/ sexual partners are viewed as possible protective factors, suggesting that these factors may be promising intervention targets.⁵⁵ Studies also suggest that when sex education curriculum and public campaigns include information about risk factors and safer practices and are inclusive of 2SLGBTQ bodies, practices and experiences result in better sexual health outcomes from 2SLGBTQ people.⁵⁶ Results require further and more in-depth study however, as existing results are limited by the minimal focus on sexual health, types of relationship-level factors tested, age, gender and orientation of the study subjects, usually young, gay, and MSM.55

SUPPORTING 2SLGBTQ COMPETENT SEXUAL AND REPRODUCTIVE HEALTHCARE SERVICES

Studies and reports on the state of sexual health care for 2SLGBTQ populations underscore the importance of acknowledging and addressing their sexual health needs and experiences.

- Additional research on the sexual health of 2SLGBTQ communities that goes beyond STIs and HIV should be encouraged, to inform where public health initiatives need to improve and gaps that should be addressed.
- Because different sub-populations have different experiences and face different risks, there is a need to look at both 2SLGBTQ sexual health collectively and separately.

2SLBGTQ people have specific sexual health needs, many of which can be accommodated easily and effectively in general practice. However, there are a number of barriers that prevent primary health care practitioners from raising sexual health issues with these populations.

- Training should be provided for health care providers in competent sexual health care to 2SLGBTQ populations. Expanding current health care resources to include more inclusive sexual and reproductive health and wellness education for doctors and other medical staff can lead to many positive outcomes for 2SLGBTQ people.
- 2SLBGTQ people take cues from the practice environment to ascertain the likelihood that the provider or service will be nonjudgmental and aware of their specific health needs. If the environment is perceived to be welcoming, they may be more likely to disclose their sexual orientation, gender identity or sexual issues to the health provider. 2SLGBTQ positive environments could include:
 - Displaying a rainbow sign or other inclusive signage
 - Having 2SLBGTQ specific patient materials
 - Training reception staff to use inclusive language, refrain from assumptions, and to ask about and use preferred names and pronouns
 - Having inclusive forms (e.g., clinic intake forms with specific sexual orientation and gender identity questions)
- Sexual and reproductive health providers should become familiar with clinical guidelines and recommendations for trans people from the World Professional Association for Transgender Health (WPATH).
- Providers should also adopt a formal policy of non-discrimination and respect for each patient's gender identity.
- Strategies and supports should be implemented to improve access to sexual and reproductive health information, education, and services, including integrating information into school curriculums.

CURRENT LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY CONTEXT REGARDING 2SLGBTQ POPULATIONS

Policies that include sexual orientation, gender identity and gender expression create equitable environments for all service users and service providers. These policies create a framework for providing inclusive, welcoming, and affirming care, improving access to services for 2SLGBTQ people and supporting service providers who work with them.

ONTARIO HUMAN RIGHTS CODE

The Ontario Human Rights Code⁵⁷ is a form of legislation created to recognize the inherent dignity and worth of every person, and to provide equal rights and opportunities without discrimination within a social area. This includes employment, housing, facilities and services, contracts, and memberships in union/ trade/professional associations.

Sexual orientation, gender identity, and gender expression are recognized as protected grounds for discrimination under the Ontario Human Rights Code.

The Ontario Human Rights Code supports non-discriminatory policies within recognized social areas including organizations providing health care services, social services, and housing accommodations. Policies under the code specific to sexual orientation, gender identity, and gender expression outline organizational and individual strategies for creating inclusive, welcoming and affirming environments for 2SLGBTQ people.

POLICIES ON DISCRIMINATION BECAUSE OF SEXUAL ORIENTATION AND GENDER IDENTITY^{57, 58}

Protection of confidentiality of information

 Service providers collecting information that directly or indirectly identifies an individual's sexual orientation must ensure maximum privacy and confidentiality of this information

Barrier review

 Organizations may have rules, criteria, or internal policies, practices and decisionmaking processes that perpetuate systemic discrimination, creating barriers that need to be addressed

Development and promotion of antiharassment and anti-discrimination policies that address homophobia

- Commitment to fair and equitable
 environment free of discrimination and
 harassment
- Statement of rights and obligations
- Examples of harassment and discrimination as defined in the *Code*

Complaint resolution procedure

- How will complaints be handled?
- To whom is the complaint made?
- Confidentiality
- Length of time for complaint to be investigated

Privacy Of Health Information

Ontario's *Personal Health Information Privacy Act* (PHIP)⁶⁰ is legislation that protects the confidentiality, privacy and security of personal health information. The legislation was the first of its kind for Ontario—proposing new health sector rules that would ensure effective protections are in place when health information is shared to provide better care to patients.

recommended resources

- <u>LGBT2SQ Health Connect Rainbow Health Ontario</u> — Courses to increase provider's 2SLGBTQ competency.
- 2. Rainbow Health Ontario Clinical Resources
- 3. Planned Parenthood Toronto

references

- 1. Gott GM et al. Opening a can of worms: GP and practice nurse barriers to talking about sexual health in primary care. Family Practice 2004.
- 2. Meyer, I. H. Why lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender public health? Journal of Public Health, American Public Health Association.2001 vol 91(6), 856-859.
- Bowen DJ et al. Cancer causes control. The lack of cancer surveillance data on sexual minorities and strategies for change. Cancer Causes Control: 2007;18:343–349.
- 4. Valanis BG, et al. Sexual orientation and health: comparisons in the women's health initiative sample. Archive of Family Medicine 2000;9:843–53.
- 5. McNair R. Lesbian and bisexual women's sexual health. Australian Family Physician. June 2009; 38:6. <u>https://www.racgp.org.au/</u> getattachment/116c6247-7366-46cf-9934f92b64ed2a93/Lesbian-sexual-health.aspx. Accessed 16 March 2022
- 6. Namaste, V. et al. HIV And STD Prevention Needs of Bisexual Women: Results From Project Polyvalence. Canadian Journal Of Communication, 2007; 32(3), 357-381.
- Bailey JV, et al. Sexual Behaviour of Lesbians and Bisexual Women. Sexually Transmitted Infections. 2003;79:147–50
- Grulich AE, et al. Sex In Australia: Homosexual Experience And Recent Homosexual Encounters. Aust N Z J Public Health 2003;27:155–63.

- 9. Mercer CH, et al. Women Who Report Having Sex With Women: British National Probability Data On Prevalence, Sexual Behaviors, and Health Outcomes. Am J Public Health 2007;97:1126–33.
- Tao G. Sexual Orientation and Related Viral Sexually Transmitted Disease Rates Among US Women Aged 15 To 44 Years. Am J Public Health 2008;98:10079
- Bailey JV, et al. Sexually Transmitted Infections In Women Who Have Sex With Women. Sexually Transmitted Infections 2004;80:244–6.
- Marrazzo JM. Sexually Transmitted Infections In Women Who Have Sex With Women: Who cares? Sexually Transmitted Infections 2000;76:330–2
- Marrazzo JM, et al. Characterization Of Vaginal Flora And Bacterial Vaginosis In Women Who Have Sex With Women. Journal Of Infectious Diseases 2002;185:1307–13
- Marrazzo JM, et al. Papanicolaou Test Screening And Prevalence Of Genital Human Papillomavirus Among Women Who have Sex With Women. American Journal of Public Health 2001;91:947–52.
- Matthews AK, et al. Correlates Of Underutilization Of Gynaecological Cancer Screening Among Lesbian And Heterosexual Women. Prev Med 2004;38:105–13.
- Kwakwa, HA et al. Female-to-Female Transmission of Human Immunodeficiency Virus. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2003; *36*(3), 40–41. <u>https://we.riseup.net/assets/440866/ Kwakwa+e+Ghobrial+2003+hiv.pdf</u>. Accessed 17 March 2022

- 17. Richters J, et al. Women In Contact With Sydney's Gay And Lesbian Community: Sexual Identity, Practice And HIV Risks. AIDS Care 2002;14:193–202.
- Cox P, et al. Risk reduction as an accepted framework for safer-sex promotion among women who have sex with women. Sexual Health 2009; Pub Med.gov
- 19. Centre for Disease Control and Prevention. What Gay, Bisexual and Other Men Who Have Sex with Men Need to Know About Sexually Transmitted Diseases. 2019. <u>www.cdc.gov/</u> <u>std/life-stages-populations/stdfact-msm.htm.</u> Accessed 17 March 2022
- 20. Public Health Agency of Canada. Summary: Estimates of HIV incidence, prevalence and Canada's progress on meeting the 90-90-90 HIV targets. 2016. <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/ public-health/services/publications/diseasesconditions/summary-estimates-hiv-incidenceprevalence-canadas-progress-90-90-90.html. Accessed 17 March 2022</u>
- 21. Public Health Agency of Canada. Populationspecific HIV/AIDS status report: people living with HIV/AIDS. Ottawa (ON): PHAC. 2013 <u>https:// www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/ hiv-aids/publications/population-specific-hivaids-status-reports/people-living-hiv-aids.html. Accessed 17 March 2022.</u>
- 22. Bourgeois, A. et al. HIV in Canada—Surveillance Report, 2016. *Canada Communicable Disease Report*, 2017; 43(12), pp.248–256, <u>https://</u> <u>www.canada.ca/content/dam/phac-aspc/</u> <u>documents/services/reports-publications/</u> <u>canada-communicable-disease-report-ccdr/</u> <u>monthly-issue/2017-43/ccdr-volume-43-12-</u> <u>december-7-2017/ccdr-43-12-ar01-eng.pdf</u>. Accessed 17 March 2022.
- 23. World Health Organization What's The 2+1+1? Event-Driven Oral Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis To Prevent HIV For Men Who Have Sex With Men: Update To Who's Recommendation On Oral Prep. (2019); <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/</u> handle/10665/325955/WHO-CDS-HIV-19.8-eng. pdf?ua=1. Accessed 17 March 2022
- 24. OHTN. Gay Men's Attitudes to and Perceptions of Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis (PrEP) and Post-Exposure Prophylaxis (PEP). 2013 Rapid Review #75; <u>https://www.ohtn.on.ca/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2016/12/RR75-Gay-Men-and-PrEP-and-PEP.pdf</u>. Accessed 17 March 2022

- 25. Public Health Agency of Canada. Gonorrhea in Canada, 2010–2015. 2018-44:2; <u>https://www. canada.ca/en/public-health/services/reportspublications/canada-communicable-diseasereport-ccdr/monthly-issue/2018-44/issue-2february-1-2018/article-1-gonorrhea-2010-2015. html. Accessed 17 March 2022</u>
- 26. Public Health Agency of Canada. Syphilis among Gay, Bisexual, Two-Spirit and Other Men Who Have Sex with Men: A Resource for Population-Specific Prevention. 2015, <u>www.canada.ca/</u> <u>en/public-health/services/infectious-diseases/</u> <u>sexual-health-sexually-transmitted-infections/</u> <u>syphilis-resource-population-specific-prevention.</u> <u>html</u>. Accessed 17 March 2022.
- 27. Centre for Disease Control and Prevention. CDC. STD Facts - Syphilis." *CDC*, 2019, <u>www.cdc.</u> <u>gov/std/syphilis/stdfact-syphilis.htm</u>. Accessed 17 March 2022
- 28. Canada, Public Health Agency of. "Syphilis among Gay, Bisexual, Two-Spirit and Other Men Who Have Sex with Men: A Resource for Population-Specific Prevention. 2015, <u>www.</u> <u>canada.ca/en/public-health/services/infectious-</u> <u>diseases/sexual-health-sexually-transmitted-</u> <u>infections/syphilis-resource-population-specific-</u> <u>prevention.html</u>. Accessed 17 March 2022.
- 29. Bissessor, et al. Frequent screening for syphilis as part of HIV monitoring increases the detection of early asymptomatic syphilis among HIV-positive homosexual men. Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome. 2010; 55(2), 211-6; Branger J, et al. High incidence of asymptomatic syphilis in HIV-infected MSM justifies routine screening. Sexually Transmitted Diseases. 2009; 36(2), 84-85; Burchell AN et al. Patterns of syphilis testing in a large cohort of HIV patients in Ontario, Canada, 2000-2009. BMC Infectious Diseases. 2013; 13, 246; Cohen C.E, et al. Increasing detection of asymptomatic syphilis in HIV patients. Sexually Transmitted Infections. 2005; 81(3), 217-219; Gray RT, et al. Frequent testing of highly sexually active gay men is required to control syphilis. Sexually Transmitted Diseases. 2010; 37(5), 298-305; Guy, R, et al. High annual syphilis testing rates among gay men in Australia, but insufficient retesting. Sexually Transmitted Diseases. 2012; 39(4), 268-275; Tuite AR, et al. Screen more or screen more often? Using mathematical models to inform syphilis control strategies. BMC Public Health 2013; 13:606.

- 30. Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS. Non-Specific Urethritis in Men. What is it? How Is it transmitted: How is it treated? 2019. <u>https://</u> <u>www.sexualhealthsheffield.nhs.uk/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2019/06/Non-specific-urethritis-in-men-</u> <u>What-is-it-How-is-it-transmitted-How-is-it-treated.</u> pdf. Accessed 17 March 2022.
- 31. Gaudreau C et al. Ciprofloxacin-Resistant Shigella Sonnei Among Men Who Have Sex With Men, Canada. Emerg Infect Dis. 2011;17(9):1747-50.2011 <u>https://wwwnc.cdc.gov/</u> <u>eid/article/17/9/10-2034_article</u> Accessed 17 March 2022
- 32. Kaplan, J, et al. Guidelines For Prevention And Treatment Of Opportunistic Infections In HIV-Infected Adults And Adolescents: Recommendations From Centre For Disease Control And Prevention. National Institutes of Health; HIV Medicine Association of Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2009; April 10; 58 (rr-4):1-207; <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.</u> gov/19357635/. Accessed 17 March 2022.
- 33. Houston E, et al. Intimate Partner Abuse among Gay and Bisexual Men: Risk Correlates and Health Outcomes." *Journal of Urban Health*, vol. 84, no. 5, 4 July 2007, pp. 681–690, 10.1007/ s11524-007-9188-0. Accessed 24 July 2019.
- 34. National Center for Transgender Equality (NCTE). Transgender Sexual and Reproductive Health: Unmet Needs and Barriers to Care. 2012. Accessed February 29, 2016.
- 35. Grant J, et al. Injustice at Every Turn: A Report of the National Transgender Discrimination Survey. Washington: National Center for Transgender Equality and National Gay and Lesbian Task Force. 2011. <u>https://transequality. org/sites/default/files/docs/resources/Factsheet_</u> <u>TransSexualandReproHealth_April2012.pdf</u> Accessed 17 March 2022.
- 36. Stieglitz, Kimberly A. "Development, risk, and resilience of transgender youth." *The Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care : JANAC* vol. 21,3 2010: 192-206.
- Center of Excellence for Transgender Health, University of California, San Francisco. Primary Care Protocol for Transgender Patient Care. <u>http://transhealth.ucsf.edu/</u> <u>trans?page=protocol-00-00</u>. 2011. Accessed 17 March, 2022

- Nemoto T. et al. HIV University of California, San Francisco, *Primary Care Protocol for Transgender Patient Care* Risk Behaviors Among Male-To-Female Transgender Persons of Color in San Francisco." American Journal of Public Health 2011: 94(7): 1193-1199.
- 39. Sari L et al. AIDS Patient Care and STDs. 2010.24:8; 501-513.http://doi.org/10.1089/ apc.2010.0059; Sevelius J. There's no pamphlet for the kind of sex I have": HIVrelated risk factors and protective behaviors among transgender men who have sex with nontransgender men." *The Journal of the Association of Nurses in AIDS Care : JANAC* vol. 20,5 2009: 398-410.
- 40. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HIV Among Transgender People. 2011. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/group/gender/transgender/</u>. Accessed 29 February 2016.
- 41. Van Griensven F. et al. HIV Surveillance and prevention in transgender women. 2013 The Lancet 13(3): 185-186.
- 42. Luvuno Z. et al. Knowledge, Attitudes, and Practices of Health Care Workers Related to Treatment and Care of Transgender Patients: A Qualitative Study in Kwazulu-Natal, South Africa. . 2017 Gender & Behaviour 15(2): 8703-8716.
- 43. Bauer, GR. et al. Toward a broader conceptualization of trans women's sexual health. The Canadian Journal of Human Sexuality, 2014:24, 1–11.
- 44. Rolle L. et al. "Quality of Life After Sexual Reassignment Surgery. 2015.
- 45. Doorduin T. et al. Trans People's Experience of Sexuality In The Netherlands: A Pilot Study. Journal Of Homosexuality, 2014). 61, 654–672.
- 46. De Cuypere,G. et al., Sexual and physical health after sex reassignment surgery. *Archives of Sexual Behavior,* 2005:*34*, 679–690.
- Sanne W. et al. Sexual Experiences in Transgender People: The Role of Desire for Gender-Confirming Interventions, Psychological Well-Being, and Body Satisfaction, Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy, 2018: 44:4, 370-381.
- 48. Trans PULSE Canada. Report Health and Well-Being among Trans and Non-Binary People Doing Sex Work. 2021 <u>transpulsecanada.ca/</u> <u>results/report-health-and-well-being-among-</u> <u>trans-and-non-binary-people-doing-sex-work/</u>. Accessed 10 Mar. 2022.

- 49. National Center for Transgender Equality (NCTE). Report of the U.S. Transgender Survey 2015. <u>https://transequality.org/sites/default/files/docs/</u> <u>usts/USTS-Full-Report-Dec17.pdf</u>. Accessed 12 February 2022.
- 50. Kurdyla V. et al. Transgender Intimate Partner Violence and Help-Seeking Patterns. 2019: 36:19-20
- 51. Sett P.et al. State of the evidence: intimate partner violence and HIV/STI risk among adolescents. 2013 *Current HIV research* vol. 11,7 : 528-35.
- 52. Hafeez H et al. "Health Care Disparities Among Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Youth: A Literature Review. 2017 Cureus vol. 9,4 e1184. Accessed 17 March 2022 Hafeez, Hudaisa et al. "Health Care Disparities Among Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender Youth: A Literature Review. *Cureus* vol. 9,4 e1184. 20 Apr. 2017, doi:10.7759/cureus.1184
- 53. Herbst J. et al. Estimating HIV Prevalence and Risk Behaviors of Transgender Persons in the United States: A Systematic Review. 2008 AIDS and Behavior 12(1): 1-17
- 54. Casarez K. Patients as People: Addressing the Barriers to sexual and Reproductive Healthcare for Transgender and Gender Nonconforming individuals. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.</u> gov/24476354/. 2018 Accessed 17 March 2022
- 55. Johns M et al. "Systematic Mapping of Relationship-Level Protective Factors and Sexual Health Outcomes Among Sexual Minority Youth: The Role of Peers, Parents, Partners, and Providers." *LGBT health* vol. 5,1 2018: 6-32.
- 56. Mustanski B et al. "A mixed-methods study of condom use and decision making among adolescent gay and bisexual males." *AIDS and behavior* vol. 18,10 (2014): 1955-69.

- 57. Ontario Human Rights Code 1990 (R.S.O) c H.19. Available from <u>https://www.ontario.ca/laws/</u> <u>statute/90h19</u>
- 58. Ontario Human Rights Commission [OHRC]. Policy on discrimination and harassment because of sexual orientation. 2006 [cited 2020 Jul 10]. Available from <u>http://www3.ohrc.</u> on.ca/sites/default/files/attachments/Policy_on_ discrimination_and_harassment_because_of_ sexual_orientation.pdf
- 59. Ontario Human Rights Commission [OHRC]. Policy on preventing discrimination because of gender identity and gender expression. 2014 [cited 2020 Jul 10]. Available from http://www3. ohrc.on.ca/sites/default/files/Policy%20on%20 preventing%20discrimination%20because%20 of%20gender%20identity%20and%20 gender%20expression.pdf
- 60. Personal Health Information Protection Act, 2004, S.O. 2004, c. 3, Sched. A. Available from www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/04p03
- 61. Hunt, S. (n.d.). An Introduction to the Health of Two-Spirit People: Historical, contemporary and emergent issues. <u>https://www.ccnsa-nccah.ca/</u> <u>docs/emerging/RPT-HealthTwoSpirit-Hunt-EN.pdf</u> Accessed March 25, 2022.
- 62. Unmet needs of Indigenous peoples living with H/V. The Ontario HIV Treatment Network. (2019, October 23). <u>https://www.ohtn.on.ca/rapidresponse-unmet-needs-of-indigenous-peoplesliving-with-HIV/</u> Accessed March 25, 2022.
- 63. The Chief Public Health Officer's Report on the State of Public Health in Canada 2013 – Sexually transmitted infections – A continued public health concern. 2022. <u>https://</u> www.canada.ca/en/public-health/corporate/ publications/chief-public-health-officer-reportsstate-public-health-canada/chief-public-healthofficer-report-on-state-public-health-canada-2013-infectious-disease-never-ending-threat/ sexually-transmitted-infections-a-continuedpublic-health-concern.html Accessed March 25, 2022



This product was produced by Rainbow Health Ontario (RHO), a program of Sherbourne Health.